FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/14/2017 8:28 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

S. Ct. No. COA No. 33013-3-III

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Custody of:

H.A.R.

PAMELA and THEODORE SUCHLAND,

Petitioners,

and

AMANDA MARIE SUCHLAND (Mother);

JEREMY JOHN REYNOLDS, (Father);

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Kenneth H. Kato, WSBA # 6400 Attorney for Petitioners 1020 N. Washington St. Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 220-2237

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Pamela and Theodore Suchland ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals opinion designated in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The unpublished Court of Appeals opinion which the Suchlands want reviewed was filed on October 17, 2017. A copy of is in the Appendix.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the court err by dismissing the Suchlands' de facto parentage action when the court determined the father did not consent to and foster the parent-like relationship with the grandparents?
- 2. Did the court err by dismissing the nonparental custody petition when substantial evidence did not support its determination that the Suchlands failed to prove by the requisite quantum of proof the father was an unfit parent and/or placement with the father would result in actual detriment to the child?
- 3. Did the court err by using a "preponderance of the evidence" standard instead of the "clear and convincing evidence" standard in the nonparental custody action?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Suchlands filed a nonparental custody petition on August 7, 2014. (CP 3). It was later amended to include a de facto parentage action. (CP 47).

An adequate cause hearing was held on October 15, 2014, on both the nonparental custody petition and the de facto parentage action. (10/15/14 RP 11). Although finding no adequate cause to proceed on the de facto parentage, the court stated the Suchlands had made more than a prima facie showing of abuse and found adequate cause to go to trial on the nonparental custody petition. (*Id.* at 34-38). The court dismissed the de facto parentage action. (CP 200). The case proceeded to bench trial on the nonparental custody petition.

Father Jeremy Reynolds testified Amanda Suchland had not been at the grandparents' home since his first visit with H.A.R. (12/12/14 RP 118). He acknowledged taking no action in Adams County to have his daughter placed with him. (*Id.*). He did not know anything about who was caring for H.A.R. and had not called the Suchlands to check on her. (*Id.* at 118-19).

Dr. Linda Powell saw H.A.R. for a well-child examination on June 7, 2013. (12/12/14 RP 135). There were no issues. (*Id.*).

One week later on June 14 at Pam Suchland's request, the doctor checked on H.A.R. before a visit with Mr. Reynolds. (*Id.* at 136). She had a faint discoloration on her forehead, a healing scratch, and a small bruise. (*Id.* at 137). On October 29, 2013, bruising was seen by Ms. Suchland and a visit ensued to Dr. Powell. (*Id.* at 139). There were some knee scratches from when H.A.R. said she fell on the sidewalk. As to a thigh bruise, her father hit her there and it hurt. (*Id.*). Even though having concerns, Pam Suchland did not ask Dr. Powell to make a report to CPS. (*Id.* at 141). The doctor did make a CPS report as a mandatory reporter. (*Id.*).

On November 12, 2013, after another visit with her father, H.A.R. came home complaining of an injury. (12/12/14 RP 143). She said her dad struck her bottom and scratched her because he and his girlfriend, Kristy Pierce, did not want her to touch the cat. (*Id.* at 145). He grabbed her hard on the left upper leg and it hurt enough to make her cry. (*Id.*). H.A.R. also indicated her stepsister, Hannah, hit her in the back. (*Id.*). All the while, Ms. Suchland sat quietly in the room and did not make eye contact with her granddaughter. (*Id.*). Dr. Powell noted a one-inch scratch on H.A.R.'s right buttock, but saw no bruises. (*Id.* at 146). The doctor called CPS again. (*Id.*).

On November 25, 2013, Dr. Powell saw a bruise below H.A.R.'s right knee and a smaller bruise mid-shin. (12/12/14 RP 147). She said her father kicked her in the shin. (*Id.*). Dr. Powell again called CPS. (*Id.* at 148). On a December 31, 2013 visit to the doctor, H.A.R. had a new scratch on her nose. She said her dad did it when she was jumping on the couch. (*Id.* at 149). On a January 14, 2014 visit to Dr. Powell, H.A.R. said her father slapped her on the back of the head and kicked her. (*Id.* at 150-51). The doctor felt H.A.R. was more guarded this time than on previous occasions. (*Id.* at 151). She believed H.A.R. when she said she was kicked and hit by her father. (*Id.* at 153).

Ritzville Police Chief David McCormick was contacted by

Ana Schultz of CPS regarding child abuse and controlling behavior
allegations against Mr. Reynolds involving H.A.R. (12/12/14 169).

Although Ms. Schultz had pictures of H.A.R.'s bruises and
scratches, she did not show any to the chief. (*Id.* at 172). If she
had, Chief McCormick would have investigated. (*Id.* at 173).

Susan Elg, a licensed mental health professional, focuses her practice on family therapy for children and their parents.

(12/2/14 RP 197-99). She had meetings with Mr. Reynolds and H.A.R. on October 28, 2014; November 4, 2014; November 11,

2014; and November 18, 2014. (*Id* at 200). At the first visit, Mr. Reynolds and H.A.R. did not greet each other when they arrived. (*Id*. at 202). She did not hug her father, but rather pushed him away. (*Id*. at 203). Ms. Elg observed there was no eye-contact between them and felt there was no intimate parent-child relationship. (*Id*. at 205). Even after the fourth visit, Ms. Elg believed there was a lack of familiarity and a connection between Mr. Reynolds and H.A.R. (*Id*. at 209-10). She noted a lack of emotional availability and the lack of attachment was more significant. (*Id*. at 210-11).

Ms. Elg did not see any coaching by the adults "in this particular family." (12/2/14 RP 212). As for the father-daughter relationship, Ms. Elg saw the father trying to look good to her and his daughter, but his responses did not reflect the nature of their relationship. (*Id.* at 216). Ms. Elg was court-appointed to do these visits. (*Id.* at 217-18). Although she could not say if Mr. Reynolds was an unfit parent, she opined it would be an actual detriment to H.A.R. if she were placed in his care. (*Id.* at 228, 235). Ms. Elg further noted there were occasions of emotional abuse by the father in his competitiveness with H.A.R. when playing keep-away,

laughing at her, and making her frustrated and upset. (*Id.* at 233). The allegations of abuse concerned her. (*Id.* at 235).

Mr. Suchland said H.A.R. lived with them full time the last 2 ½ to 3 years. (12/2/14 RP 255). Between February 2013 and January 2014, he had concerns about her after visits with her father. (*Id.* at 261). She would be quiet and silent for a couple of days sometimes before she snapped out of it. (*Id.*). The bruises and marks on H.A.R. also concerned him. (*Id.* at 262-63). He suspected she was being abused by her father. (*Id.* at 268). Mr. Reynolds did not pay child support. (*Id.* at 269). Mr. Suchland made no CPS or law enforcement calls. (*Id.* at 270). He saw more signs of abuse after overnights with her father started. (*Id.* at 272).

Pam Suchland said Mr. Reynolds did not try to get his daughter between February 2013 and January 2014. (12/2/14 RP 324). Under the residential plan, H.A.R. lived with her mother and Mr. Reynolds had visits. (*Id.* at 325-26). At various times in 2013, Ms. Suchland saw H.A.R. had bruises after visits with her father. (*Id.* at 330-40). On February 24, 2013, H.A.R. had a bruise and she said she was hit on the head by Hannah, her stepsister. (*Id.* at 334). On October 13, 2013, H.A.R. had another bruise after Hannah kicked her. (*Id.* at 340).

On September 5, 2012, the father came to the grandparents' home drunk and Amanda Suchland let him see H.A.R. (12/3/14 RP 451). With a seal puppet H.A.R. got at a yard sale, Mr. Reynolds grabbed her hand and would not let go. (*Id.*). Pam Suchland then realized everything her daughter said about Mr. Reynolds hurting H.A.R. was true. (*Id.*). After visits with father, she noted a bruise on H.A.R.'s upper left knee on May 18, 2013; bruises on her shin on October 28, 2013, after her father hit her; bruising on October 29, 2013; a scratch inflicted by the father on November 11, 2013; bruises on her right knee on November 24, 2013; bruising on the bridge of H.A.R.'s nose on December 30, 2013; and bruising on her leg on January 12, 2014. (*Id.* at 453-69). Ms. Suchland believed Mr. Reynolds was hurting H.A.R. (*Id.* at 473).

The mother testified Mr. Reynolds hurt H.A.R. (12/3/14 RP 374). In an apology letter to Amanda, he said he had been mean, insulting, degrading, and demeaning to her. (*Id.* at 402-04). Between February 2013 and January 2014, the father did not try to get H.A.R. back. (*Id.* at 408-09). Amanda Suchland consented to her parents being the legal guardians of H.A.R. (*Id.* at 411).

Dr. Teresa McDowell, a psychologist with the Spokane School District, also had a private practice and met H.A.R. the first week of August 2013. (12/3/14 RP 577). Pam Suchland contacted Dr. McDowell. (*Id.* at 584). There was intake with Ms. Suchland over two sessions. (*Id.* at 585). The first session with H.A.R. was on August 7, 2013. (*Id.*). After more sessions, H.A.R. said her father hit her on several occasions and caused bruises. (*Id.* at 589-607). Dr. McDowell made at least three reports to CPS and wrote letters of concern. (*Id.* at 598, 600, 606). She opined it was very likely H.A.R. was being abused by her father, who was an unfit parent. (*Id.* at 608, 618).

Ms. Elg was re-called to give her views on July 2014 SCAN visitations. (12/4/14 RP 649-50). She was concerned about what was not stated in the SCAN reports and the presence of other people besides Mr. Reynolds at visitation. (*Id.* at 651). Since the parent-child relationship was at issue, Ms. Elg wondered why Ms. Pierce, the girlfriend, was there. (*Id.*). It appeared she was the one who facilitated the interactions and played a significant role. (*Id.* at 651-52). H.A.R.'s karate-chopping her father was of concern and hitting him with her flip-flops concerned Ms. Elg as this behavior was perhaps a reflection of how the two interacted with each other and it was unusual for children H.A.R.'s age to be physically aggressive with parents in visits. (*Id.* at 652-54). The father also

did not take a role in discouraging her from hitting him. (*Id.* at 655). Ms. Elg noted the father had regular visitation from February to December 2013, but stopped January 14, 2014, and did not resume until July 2014. She was concerned Mr. Reynolds did not see his daughter for over six months. (*Id.* at 660).

Ms. Pierce said Mr. Reynolds and H.A.R. had a normal father-daughter relationship and the abuse allegations were untrue. (12/4/14 RP, 665, 667). The allegations began to escalate October, November, and December 2013 to January 14, 2014. (*Id.* at 670). She acknowledged Mr. Reynolds did not pay child support in 2014 for H.A.R. (*Id.* at 674-75). The allegations started after the overnight visits started in June 2013. (*Id.* at 676).

Jeremy Reynolds met Amanda Suchland in the summer of 2007 and they separated around September 2012. (12/4/14 RP 679). H.A.R. was born on April 21, 2009. (*Id.*). A parenting plan was in place in Adams County. He had exercised visitation with his daughter. (*Id.* at 680-81). He was notified of the abuse allegations in June 2013. (*Id.* at 681). Mr. Reynolds testified the grandparents had made the allegations. (*Id.* at 682). CPS told him his daughter was seeing Dr. Powell. (*Id.*). He became aware H.A.R. was going to a therapist, Dr. McDowell, around September or October 2013.

(*Id.* at 683). Mr. Reynolds said he did not hit, pinch, kick, or physically harm his daughter. (*Id.* at 689-90). Each time he returned H.A.R. to the grandparents, she had no bruises. (*Id.* at 729). When asked by the social worker if the grandparents were the primary caretakers for H.A.R., Mr. Reynolds said she was living at the grandparents' home. (*Id.* at 706).

In its oral decision as to certain issues, the court determined Amanda Suchland was an unfit parent. (12/4/14 RP 786, 788).

The court also stated Pam Suchland was not credible and Susan Elg had no credibility at all. (*Id.* at 784, 789-90).

On January 12, 2015, the court entered findings and conclusions on the nonparental custody petition. (CP 539). It denied and dismissed the petition for nonparental custody and de facto parentage action. (CP 544). An order of dismissal was filed, denying and dismissing both. (CP 573).

On appeal, the court affirmed the orders dismissing the de facto parentage action and nonparental custody petition. (App.).

The Suchlands seek review of the Court of Appeals' opinion.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Review is warranted because the Court of Appeals decision

conflicts with decisions of the Supreme Court and other decisions of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

A person petitioning for de facto parentage must show that (1) the natural or legal parent consented to and fostered the parent-like relationship, (2) the petitioner and the child lived together in the same household, (3) the petitioner assumed obligations of parenthood without expectation of financial compensation, and (4) the petitioner has been in a parental role for a length of time sufficient to have established with the child a bonded, dependent relationship, personal in nature. *In re Parentage of J.B.R.*, 184 Wn. App. 203, 208, 336 P.3d 648 (2014). The only element at issue was whether the father consented to and fostered the parent-like relationship with the grandparents. (CP 93).

The relevant undisputed fact is that the grandparents "from the time the Mother moved into their home in 2012 until the present have provided almost all of the physical care and most of the financial support for the child." (CP 196). Mr. Reynolds "found out" about this parent-like relationship in late 2013 or early 2014 because he had not been involved with H.A.R. (CP 198). From then to the present is the appropriate time frame to see whether the father consented to and fostered that relationship with the

Suchlands. See J.B.R., 184 Wn. App. at 205-07 (prior attempts to visit not determinative).

Mr. Reynolds' conduct speaks for itself. The evidence is undisputed that he chose not to be involved in H.A.R.'s life until supervised visitation was agreed to in lieu of a shelter care hearing in a related dependency that was dismissed in October 2014. (CP 196-98). The court's conclusion did not flow from the findings as Mr. Reynolds' inaction shows he did indeed consent to and foster H.A.R.'s relationship with the Suchlands. *Ridgeview Properties v. Starbuck*, 96 Wn.2d 716, 719, 638 P.2d 1231 (1982). Review should be accepted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

On the nonparental custody petition, the trial court decided the Suchlands failed to prove by a preponderance the requirements for granting a nonparental custody action that the father was an unfit parent and/or placement with the father would result in actual detriment to the child. *In re Custody of B.M.H.*, 179 Wn.2d 224, 235, 315 P.3d 470 (2013). By employing a preponderance of the evidence standard, the court did not use the correct quantum of proof for a third-party custody action. The proper standard is clear and convincing evidence. *In re Custody of A.L.D.*, 191 Wn. App. 474, 501, 363 P.3d 604 (2015). This was an error of law and was

itself is an abuse of discretion. *In re Marriage of Spreen*, 107 Wn. App. 341, 349-50, 28 P.3d 769 (2001).

The Court of Appeals, however, determined use of the incorrect standard of proof did not matter because the Suchlands could not even meet their burden by a preponderance, much less by clear and convincing evidence. But the analysis is not so simple. It is true that credibility determinations are solely the province of the trier of fact and cannot be reviewed on appeal. *Morse v. Antonellis*, 149 Wn.2d 572, 574, 70 P.3d 125 (2003). But the existence of facts cannot be based on guess, speculation, or conjecture. *Belli v.* Shaw, 98 Wn.2d 569, 574, 657 P.2d 315 (1983). Indeed, the findings must be supported by more than a scintilla of evidence. *Smith v. Yamashita*, 12 Wn.2d 580, 582, 123 P.2d 340 (1942).

Contrary to the Court of Appeals' conclusion that the evidence of abuse and parental unfitness was not so overwhelming that it compelled a decision in the grandparents' favor, there was such overwhelming evidence presented by the Suchlands that, more likely than not, the father physically abused H.A.R. Dr. Powell, a physician, and Dr. McDowell, a psychologist, both had concerns about H.A.R.'s safety. Dr. Powell made at least three

CPS reports after she saw bruises and scratches on H.A.R., who stated her father hit her, following visits with him. (12/2/14 RP 141, 146, 147). Dr. McDowell saw H.A.R. for counseling from August 2013 to December 2014. (12/3/14 RP 587, 615). There was already an open CPS referral. (*Id.* at 594). H.A.R. told Dr. McDowell her father hit her on several occasions and grabbed her face. (*See, e.g., id.* at 598, 600, 604, 606). The psychologist opined it was highly likely the father was abusing his daughter. (*Id.* at 608). H.A.R. consistently reported abuse by her father and never recanted. (*Id.*). After visits stopped in January 2014, H.A.R. no longer had marks or bruises and was doing well. (*Id.* at 611).

Ritzville Police Chief McCormick would have investigated child abuse allegations against the father if Ana Schultz of CPS had shown him pictures of H.A.R.'s bruises. (*Id.* at 169-173). Odessa Police Chief Coubra told Pam Suchland to document every time she noticed an injury on H.A.R. (*Id.* at 282-84). Ms. Suchland observed bruises and scratches on H.A.R. following visits with her father and was concerned Mr. Reynolds was hurting her. (12/2/14 RP 334, 338, 340; 12/3/14 RP 448, 452, 459-60, 463, 473). The controverting evidence was the father's testimony he had not hurt his daughter. (12/4/14 RP 686, 689-90).

The undisputed physical evidence and unbiased observations of mandatory reporters along with H.A.R's consistent disclosures about her father hitting her certainly was substantial evidence under a clear and convincing standard of his physically abusing her. *Ridgeview Properties*, *supra*. The evidence to the contrary came from the father's self-serving testimony; whether it should thus be discounted is also a credibility issue. *Ramos v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 191 Wn. App. 36, 40, 361 P.3d 165 (2015).

Even though credibility is for the finder of fact, its resolution must still be based on more than a scintilla of evidence. *Smith*, 12 Wn.2d at 582. In light of the unbiased evidence showing the father had physically abused his daughter, the court's determination to the contrary was impermissibly supported by only a mere scintilla and was therefore insufficient. *Id.* Physical abuse of a child by her father makes the parent unfit. *See In re Custody of R.R.B.*, 108 Wn. App. 602, 31 P.3d 1212 (2001).

In its findings, the trial court equated "danger" with "actual detriment," thus unduly limiting its consideration of "actual detriment" to that one factor. See, e.g., In re Parentage of J.A.B., 146 Wn. App. 417, 191 P.3d 71 (2008); In re Interest of Mahaney,

146 Wn.2d 878, 51 P.3d 776 (2002). This was legal error and an abuse of discretion. *Spreen*, 107 Wn. App. at 349-50.

A trial court's custody disposition will not be disturbed absent a manifest abuse of discretion. *A.L.D.*, 191 Wn. App. at 504. Here, the court used the wrong standard of proof:

I believe the law is very clear that the burden is on the – it could be very significant in close cases on the nonparents; however, I think the law is also clear it's not clear, cogent, and convincing evidence or beyond a reasonable doubt; it's the preponderance of the evidence standard that applies. (12/4/14 RP 781).

This is a legal mistake constituting an abuse of discretion and is reversible error. *Spreen*, *supra*.

Whether it was harmless as found by the Court of Appeals cannot be supported as the trial judge's on-the-record disdain for the opinions of guardians ad litem and experts in general and the grandmother in particular as "less than candid and less than credible" violates the appearance of fairness. (12/4/14 RP 778, 784-85). The court also disparaged court-appointed Ms. Elg's testimony:

At the end of the day, regardless of what I decide in the case, I'm going to tell you this right now, it's not going to be based on anything that Ms. Elg testified to. I found no credibility with that lady at all. She was lobbied by the grandmother here very effectively. She had her mind made up and she was extremely biased. What did she say about that keep-away with the ball? Controlling and it was karate chops and these things. I found her testimony uncredible [sic]. I found it absurd. (Id. at 789).

These statements on the record have nothing to do with whether the court found her credible based on her testimony, but rather whether the court's bias prevented it from assessing the evidence impartially no matter what the standard of proof. The Court of Appeals did not even address this issue. As a whole, remand is required as it cannot be said the error in the standard of proof used was harmless. The court manifestly abused its discretion when it committed legal error by employing the incorrect standard of proof. Review is warranted as the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with those of the Supreme Court and other decisions of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

F. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts and authorities, petitioners

Suchland respectfully urge this Court to grant their motion for

discretionary review.