FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/10/2018 3:02 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

S. Ct. No. 95208-6 COA No. 33013-3-III

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Custody of:

H.A.R.

PAMELA and THEODORE SUCHLAND

Petitioners,

and

AMANDA MARIE SUCHLAND (Mother):

JEREMY JOHN REYNOLDS (Father);

Respondents.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jeremy John Reynolds Pro Se 415 East Broadway Avenue Ritzville WA 99169 (509) 981-2961

A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

Jeremy John Reynolds asks this Court to deny review of the Court of Appeals opinion designated in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The unpublished Court of Appeals opinion which the Suchlands want reviewed was filed on October 17, 2017. A copy is in the Appendix.

C. LINCOLN COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT NO. 14-3-02215-2- Verbatim Report of Proceedings. A copy is in the Appendix.

D. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- The Courts have not erred by dismissing the Suchland's de facto parenting action. All abuse allegations evidence has been submitted and taken by the grandparents (pictures and claims). There are no law enforcement, teachers, other medical professionals or other mental health professionals (besides those who the grandparents have hand selected) who are all mandated reporters make a report to CPS or law enforcement.
- 2. The Courts did not err by dismissing the nonparental custody petition when substantial evidence did not support its determination. If the Suchland's failed to prove by the requisite quantum of proof that I am unfit, it certainly was not without them trying. Even to the extent of them fabricating stories, making false abuse claims, and most alarming is subjecting their granddaughter (H.A.R) who they claim to love to pictures, videos and unnecessary medical examinations.
- 3. The Courts did not err by using a preponderance standard instead of the clear and convincing evidence in the nonparental custody action. The Courts have never

found that Respondent Jeremy Reynolds has not met his burden of proof by preponderance evidence.

E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Amanda and I were together for 5 years before we separated. H.A.R was born in 2009 and moved with Amanda in 2012. During those 3 years that H.A.R. was with the both of us there were no domestic violence reports towards Amanda or H.A.R. In fact there were "no" accusations of any sorts during the time Amanda and I were together for the 5 years.

In 2012 Amanda Suchland and I separated and she moved to Odessa to her parent's residence. I had brought action at Adams County Superior Court against Amanda seeking a residential schedule in 2012. In 2013 a temporary order was ordered by the courts. During this time I fulfilled my visitations and followed all requirements set by the court. I have always been involved in my daughter's (H.A.R) life.

The courts set visitations of every second and fourth weekend with H.A.R started in February 2013. February and March 2013 were half days and progressed to full days from April to May 2013. Starting in June 2013 visitations were increased to full weekends with over nights. (12/4/14 RP 681 line 5-15). Prior to May 2013 there were "no" claims of any sort to CPS. "No" visits to the doctor at the Odessa Clinic in that time frame also. (12/2/14 RP 161 line 4-8). All of my visitations were exercised and followed all rules. The absurd accusations to CPS began in June of 2013, the time the overnight visitations began. (RP 681 line 22-25).

In 2014 the Suchlands (grandparents) filed a Shelter Care hearing and for a Third Party Custody. During the course of the Suchlands (grandparents) actions for the nonparental custody petition and de facto parentage action, a number of issues happened. The Suchlands (grandparents) purposely did not notify me that the mother (Amanda Suchland) abandoned our child (H.A.R) with them. The Suchlands (grandparents) had no intentions to notify me (12/3/14 RP 531 line 22-25). Pam Suchland (grandmother) even admits to witnessing the mother (Amanda Suchland) abandoning H.A.R and did not and would not notify me of the situation. (12/3/14 RP 507 line 9-11). The Suchlands (grandparents) have continuously worked on alienating my child from me, trying their hardest to destroy us and essentially kidnapping my child.

During this time the Suchlands (grandparents) are calling in CPS reports to build their case. (12/3/14 RP 502-503 line 15-25, line 1-6); and secretly taking H.A.R to the Odessa Clinic to see M.D. Linda Powell. They were also having M.D. Linda Powell bill them directly and not through my insurance so I would not know about these visits. (12/2/14 RP 158 line 2-20). In preparation for the doctor visits the Suchlands (grandparents) were taking photos, and videotaping H.A.R. The doctor expressed her concerns to the grandparents of the detrimental impact this has on a small child. (12/2/14 RP 163-164 line 12-25, line1-3).

CPS set forth allegations of neglect due to the amounts of photos, videotaping and over excessive exams against the Suchlands (grandparents). (12/2/14 RP 271 line 14-17). Even after being spoken to by CPS of the allegations set forth regarding their concerns, Pam Suchland (grandmother), continued taking excessive photos, videos, and subjecting my daughter H.A.R. to repetitive exams. (12/3/14 RP 505-506 line 2-25, line1-12).

The Suchlands (grandparents) also took my daughter to a psychologist by the name of Dr. Teresa McDowell, without notifying me. At no point in time did Dr. McDowell notify or try to contact me about concerns with my daughter nor did she involve

me in H.A.R sessions. (12/3/14 RP 630 line 2-16). This was another tactic of malicious attempts that the Suchlands (grandparents) used in trying to build their case in alienating and robbing me of my child.

Susan Elg, a licensed mental health professional was appointed by the court. H.A.R and I had meetings together with her for a total of (4) 1 hour sessions. During the course of all these visitations and malicious attempts at my character the Suchlands (grandparents) still continued to make any and all frivolous accusations in an attempt to get custody of my child (H.A.R.). The Suchlands (grandparents) have gone to the extreme in trying to destroy my reputation and have attacked my character of who I am as a person. They have tried to withhold and alienate my child from me.

F. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE ACCEPTED

Review should be denied because the Suchlands (grandparents) request has been denied in the Superior Court, Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals numerous of times. Afterwards, instead of attempting to build a relationship with me they keep pursing these frivolous attempts to take my child for their own and to keep her from me.

There was no evidence because I never consented to, or fostered the grandparent's parent-like relationship with H.A.R. as you can read from (12/4/14 RP 682-683 line 25, line 1-3).

The Suchlands (grandparents) with malicious intent tried to alienate my child from me by criminally hiding the fact that the mother (Amanda) abandoned our child with them. (12/3/14 RP 531 line 22-25).

The Suchlands (grandparents) would like to convince this court that I abandoned my child and did not know or fight for custody over her is another one of their attempts to paint me out as a father who does not care about his child. When in truth, I could not control the timelines of attorneys involved or the scheduling of dates in a rural courthouse. In such an unconventional case like this, every little process took longer than all parties involved expected. When the court realized I had not been allowed to see my daughter (H.A.R) for 6 months they ordered visitations to start immediately.

The Courts have made the right decision in dismissing the Suchlands (grandparents) non-parental custody action by the preponderance of evidence that respondent, Jeremy Reynolds in fact posed no danger to my daughter and was found fit. The court

heard all the overwhelming evidence presented by all matters that showed how the Suchlands (grandparents) used malicious intents towards me in the act of trying to attain custody of my child. (12/30/14 RP 812-813 line 13-25, line 1-2).

Dr. Powell, the physician stated that the Suchlands (grandparents) wanted to pay for the visits privately to hide the clinical visitations from me so I would not know. (12/2/14 RP 158 line 2-20).

Dr. Theresa McDowell, a psychologist, also stated how the Suchlands (grandparents) and Amanda Suchland (mother) asked to bill them directly instead of using my insurance. (12/3/14 RP 627-628 line 22-25, line 1-3). This again was another malicious attempt to hide the fact that they subjected her to therapy sessions to build their case.

This case is riddled with evidence proving I am "no" danger to my daughter. The grandparents just do not want me involved in H.A.R life. (12/30/14 RP 817 line 12-22).

Susan Elg, a licensed mental health professional, was fully aware she was not allowed to review my case document until all sessions were completed. Ms Elg was caught on the stand lying in an attempt to mislead the court to believe that she had waited until

after our final session. After a quick questioning by the Court it was revealed, that the Suchlands (grandparents) attorney intentionally supplied and discussed my case with Ms. Elg before my final session. (12/2/14 RP 237-239 line 22-25, line 1-25, line 1-13). This resulted in the Court justly refusing to use anything Ms. Elg testified to. The Court found no credibility at all. The Court also determined that she had her mind made up and was extremely biased. (12/30/14 RP 789-790 line 7-25, line 1-2).

All these professional opinions have been shaped by information provided by the Suchlands (grandparents) for this case.

In addition all CPS reports have been thoroughly investigated and they have all been closed as "UNFOUNDED".

Throughout H.A.R's life (prior to moving to Odessa), there have never been any reports of abuse or neglect. Never has there been a report that came from outside the Suchlands (grandparents) direct social circle. They have not been able to supply a single unbiased or unsolicited professional to prove any abuse or neglect by the respondent (father). Yet inadvertently, they have shown detrimental abandonment by the mother, and Pam Suchland

(grandmother's) unhealthy need to mother my child (H.A.R.) rather than be a grandmother.

The Suchlands (grandparents) intent was to ruin my character and reputation, and to gain custody of H.A.R. It did not matter to them it was hurting H.A.R or gave forethought to the impact it would have on a small child. They mercilessly continue and are not willing to stop at anything. As you read previously that Dr. Powell expressed her concerns of detrimental impact to H.A.R about the Suchlands (grandparents) taking scantily clad photos and videos, still they continued knowing the harm it could do to a young girl. (12/2/14 RP 163-164 line 12-25, line1-3). This is the type of abuse H.A.R has had to endure through this whole situation from the Suchlands (grandparents). I have been tirelessly trudging through all the legalities to get visitations and continue to try to get custody of H.A.R. Which I should have had the very moment the mother (Amanda Suchland) abandoned her. And again when she stated in court she wanted to give custody to her parents. (12/3/14 RP 411 line 14-18).

I have provided evidence that the Suchlands (grandparents) have malicious and damaging intentions. They have been out to damage my reputation and alienate my daughter (H.A.R) from me.

I would never alienate them from (H.A.R) only because I know how damaging it would be to her, but as her father I feel I would need to remind them that only I can be her father and their place is to be grandparents only. I would feel the need to be extremely selective and protective of my child when around them to protect her from any further physical intrusion such as barely clothed photos and mental abuse. They have made numerous attempts to rob me of my child legally and rob me of my Constitutional rights to be a parent.

Throughout this case I have had to fight for my Fourteenth Amendment Constitutional Rights which have been repeatedly violated, in Troxel, etvir. V. Granville-No. 99-138 (2000), provides heightened protection against government interference with certain fundamental rights and liberty interests. Washington v. Glucksberg, 521 U.S. 702, 720, including parent's fundamental right to make decisions concerning the care, custody, and control of their children, e.g. Stanley v. Illinois, 405 U.S.645,651. Pp. 5-8.

On April 7, 2005 the Washington State Supreme Court upheld the United States Supreme Court decision agreed that Grandparent's rights unconstitutionally interfere with fundamental parental rights. I have been disregarded as a parent throughout this

whole case and I am asking this Court to put a stop to the interference of my Fourteenth Amendment Constitutional Rights and allow me to parent my child without anymore interference from the Suchlands (grandparents).

G. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts, the respondent Jeremy John Reynolds, is respectfully asking this Court to deny the Petitioners action to reverse the dismissal of the de facto action and dismissal of the non-parental custody petition.

Submitted this 10th day of January, 2018

Jun Reyla v Revnolds

Jeremy Reynolds, Pro Se